History of John Cox, Sr. (1813)

Written and complied by Marlene Cox Diamond


John Cox, Sr. was born September 17, 1813, in the parish of Pewsey, Wiltshire, England, a son of Mary Cox, a servant girl.  He was christened in the neighboring parish of Wilcot on November 7, 1813.  Pewsey was a very pleasant little town lying along the Avon River and presenting a most picturesque fertile valley, rising over 700 feet on the south.  This land being so situated was exceptionally good as farm land and many of the people of Pewsey followed this occupation, residing in thatched cottages along the main roads.


Two years later, on July 10, 1815, Mary married William Broad in the Wilcot Parish Church, and they went to live in the small tything in Wilcot known as “Stowwell” which was about a mile from Pewsey.  It was here they had a daughter, Elizabeth, who was also christened in the Wilcot Parish Church on November 22, 1818, when John was about 5 years of age.


Sometime within the next year or two, William and Mary decided to find another home and traveled in a southeastern direction into the parishes of Hampshire, settling in the parish of Wield, by 1820.  This parish, situated so remotely in the highlands of Hampshire, may have been called Wield, derived from the Greek word Wald, meaning a wooded area, or from the word Wold, meaning upland, as there was a wooded area as well as upland and lowland areas.  The two communities of this parish had been divided from ancient times into Upper Wield and Lower Wield, the old Norman Church being built between 1130 and 1150 A.D.


It was in this parish church of Wield that William and Mary Broad christened their next child, Caroline, on July 23, 1820.  John Cox was about seven at the time.  The following years brought forth three more children: Eleanor, christened January 2, 1825; Jemima, christened July 2, 1826; and Jacob, christened November 6, 1831.  Thus, John had four sisters and a brother to play with, unless there were other children who we do not yet know of.


William Broad, John’s step-father, most likely hunted in Wield Woods along with the other men of the village, where deer and fox hunts were favorite pastimes.  The family most likely resided in one of the little thatched cottages surrounded by hedges, which were used by the people of Wield, who were mostly farmers.  Other craftsmen such as blacksmiths, wheelwrights, hurdle makers, and thatchers helped the farmers to thrive.


It was in this parish that John was raised from a young boy into manhood and finally married in the Wield Parish Church to Ann Baker, a daughter of George and Barbara Baker who also resided in the parish.  John and Ann were married March 29, 1834, and he continued as a farm carter, attending the Church of Wield and christening their eight children there.  Their second child was named after his father, John, and was one of five boys with three sisters.  His older brother, William, was probably named after his grandfather, William Broad. 
He only lived to be about ten years of age, leaving John Jr., then the eldest son, with the responsibility of helping his father with the necessary farm duties.


At this time John and Ann lived in a tenement house with gardens located very near the parish church in Upper Wield.  His father-in-law, George Baker, lived just around the corner in another tenement.  John and Ann’s fourth child was named George, after his grandfather.  Elizabeth Mary, the fifth child, was named after her grandmother, Mary Cox Broad, and the sixth child, Barbara Ann, was named after her grandmother, Barbara Baker.  The other children were Edwin, Jabez Henry, and Sarah.


In about 1841, George Baker was living with John and Ann.  In 1847, the seventh son, Jabez Henry was born and only lived about 11 weeks.  This must have been a disappointment to John and Ann, as they had also lost their 10-year-old boy, William, just two weeks earlier.  William died of rheumatism and Jabez of measles.  Two years later, the family also suffered the death of little eight-year-old Elizabeth Mary, who had developed rheumatic heart.  This left them with only five children and much disappointment and heartache during the previous five years between 1845 and 1850.  (It is also possible there may have been other children).


It was in this year, 1850, that the turning point came to their lives when the Mormons came to Wield in search of converts and were pelted with eggs by the children of the village.  The children had also done this when an independent minister had come to Wield in 1803, and a farmer from Wield had actually spoiled a large quantity of eggs and sent them in by donkey cart for the purpose of throwing them at the preacher.


John and his wife, Ann, were among a number of people who were converted and baptized within those early years of the L.D.S. Church.  Ann was baptized in 1851 along with John Jr. and Edwin.  John Sr.’s baptism is listed a few years later in 1857.  These baptisms were held, much to the surprise of the people of Wield, in a pond in Wield Wood by total immersion.  The ponds were very muddy, and the women of the village had to strain the water to separate the mud, so that they could do their laundry.  Thus, the people of Wield were amazed that the Mormons were use total immersion in that water.  What faith in their new religion!


In 1858, the fourth son, George, who was then 18 years old, died.  The following year, on August 22, 1859, John Jr. married Annie Stiff/Neville who had also joined the Church, and they immigrated to America in 1866.  Edwin married Harriet Barrow and immigrated to America, as well as Sarah who married George Henry Knowlden.


John Cox Sr.’s death is listed as July 9, 1869, found in the temple records of 1895.  These records also show that he was endowed and sealed to Ann (Baker) Cox on April 10, 1895, with his son, John Jr., acting as proxy.  Ann Baker Cox’s death is listed as February 18, 1859, about six months before John Jr. was married.  She was 48 years old at the time of her death.  Her endowment and sealing were done by her daughter, Sarah (Cox) Knowlden also on April 10, 1895 in the Salt Lake Temple.  During the first few weeks in April 1895 more temple work was completed for other members of the family as they were baptized, endowed, and sealed to their parents. 
Such was the case of the small children of John and Ann Baker Cox who had died before these ordinances could be performed.  The temple work for William and Mary Cox Broad and Barbara Lewington Baker, and a few others are found on the baptism register of the Salt Lake Temple on April 9, 1895, also done by John Jr. and his sister, Sarah Cox Knowlden.


The following pages contain a picture of John Cox, Sr., the original of which was brought to America with John Jr. across his long ocean voyage and the difficult plains to Utah.  This must have been a most treasured possession.  Also attached is a picture of the Wield Church of St. James where John and Ann attended and had their children christened prior to their conversion to the L.D.S. Church.  Finally is a map of Upper Wield, showing the location of the John Cox and George Baker homes.  It is with these few mementos that we know a little more about our ancestors and the heritage they have given us in future generations.
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